Public Document Pack

Children and Young People Scrutiny
Committee
Date:
Time:
Venue:

Wednesday, 26 May 2021
2.00 pm
Council Chamber, Level 2, Town Hall Extension

Everyone is welcome to attend this committee meeting.
.

Access to the Public Gallery
Access to the Public Gallery is on Level 3 of the Town Hall Extension, using the lift or
stairs in the lobby of the Mount Street entrance to the Extension. There is no public
access from any other entrance.

Filming and broadcast of the meeting
Meetings of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee are ‘webcast’. These
meetings are filmed and broadcast live on the Internet. If you attend this meeting you
should be aware that you might be filmed and included in that transmission.

Membership of the Children and Young People
Scrutiny Committee
Councillors –
The membership of the Committee will be confirmed at the Council meeting on 19
May 2021.
Co-opted Members Ms Z Derraz, Mr L Duffy, Mrs J Miles and Dr W Omara

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee

Agenda
1.

Urgent Business
To consider any items which the Chair has agreed to have
submitted as urgent.

2.

Appeals
To consider any appeals from the public against refusal to allow
inspection of background documents and/or the inclusion of items
in the confidential part of the agenda.

3.

Interests
To allow Members an opportunity to [a] declare any personal,
prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interests they might have in
any items which appear on this agenda; and [b] record any items
from which they are precluded from voting as a result of Council
Tax/Council rent arrears; [c] the existence and nature of party
whipping arrangements in respect of any item to be considered at
this meeting. Members with a personal interest should declare
that at the start of the item under consideration. If Members also
have a prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interest they must
withdraw from the meeting during the consideration of the item.

4.

Minutes
To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held
on 10 March 2021.

Pages
7 - 14

5.

Manchester Safeguarding Partnership (MSP) Annual Report
2019/2020
Report of Independent Person Dr Henri Giller

Pages
15 - 40

This report details the strategic priorities and what MSP has
achieved, reports on its annual assurance activity and what has
been learnt from practice reviews undertaken where there was a
serious incident.
6.

Impact of COVID-19 on children's services in Manchester,
including schools, settings and the Child and Adolescent
Mental Health Service
Report of the Deputy Director of Children’s Services
This report details the impact and consequence management of
COVID-19 across the Children’s and Education Directorate. This
report has a particular focus on the delivery arrangements and
performance of children’s services. Acknowledging the
requirement to view the support to children as a partnership
endeavour, the report also provides an update on schools and the
Child and Adult Mental Health Service’s ongoing response to the
pandemic.

Pages
41 - 58

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee
7.

Children and Education Services - Overview and Key Issues
This will be an oral report.

8.

Overview Report
Report of the Governance and Scrutiny Support Unit

Pages
59 - 70

This report provides the Committee with details of key decisions
that fall within the Committee’s remit and an update on actions
resulting from the Committee’s recommendations. The report also
includes the Committee’s work programme, which the Committee
is asked to amend as appropriate and agree.
9.

Exclusion of Press and Public
The officers consider that the following item contains exempt
information as provided for in the Local Government Access to
Information Act and that the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information. The Committee is recommended to agree the
necessary resolutions excluding the public from the meeting
during consideration of this item.

10.

Scrutiny Committees' work on cross-cutting themes of the
Our Manchester Strategy
Report of the Deputy Chief Executive and City Treasurer
This report provides an overview of how cross-cutting themes in
the Our Manchester Strategy – Forward to 2025 reset document
are covered by the Council’s Scrutiny Committees during the
2021/22 municipal year.
The report is to form part of the Work Programming session
at the rise of this meeting for Committee Members only.

Pages
71 - 74

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee

Information about the Committee
Scrutiny Committees represent the interests of local people about important issues
that affect them. They look at how the decisions, policies and services of the Council
and other key public agencies impact on the city and its residents. Scrutiny
Committees do not take decisions but can make recommendations to decisionmakers about how they are delivering the Our Manchester Strategy, an agreed vision
for a better Manchester that is shared by public agencies across the city.
The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee reviews the services provided
by the Council and its partners for young people across the city including education,
early years, school standards and valuing young people.
In addition to the elected members the Committee has seven co-opted member
positions. These are:








Representative of the Diocese of Manchester – Vacant
Representative of the Diocese of Salford – Mrs Julie Miles
Parent governor representative – Dr W Omara
Parent governor representative – Vacant
Parent governor representative – Ms Zainab Derraz
Secondary sector teacher representative – Mr Liam Duffy
Primary sector teacher representative – Vacant

The co-opted members representing faith schools and parent governors are able to
vote when the Committee deals with matters relating to education functions.
The Council wants to consult people as fully as possible before making decisions that
affect them. Members of the public do not have a right to speak at meetings but may
do so if invited by the Chair. If you have a special interest in an item on the agenda
and want to speak, tell the Committee Officer, who will pass on your request to the
Chair. Groups of people will usually be asked to nominate a spokesperson. The
Council wants its meetings to be as open as possible but occasionally there will be
some confidential business. Brief reasons for confidentiality will be shown on the
agenda sheet.
The Council welcomes the filming, recording, public broadcast and use of social
media to report on the Committee’s meetings by members of the public.
Agenda, reports and minutes of all Council Committees can be found on the
Council’s website www.manchester.gov.uk
Smoking is not allowed in Council buildings.
Joanne Roney OBE
Chief Executive
3rd Floor, Town Hall Extension,
Manchester, M60 2LA.

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee

Further Information
For help, advice and information about this meeting please contact the Committee
Officer:
Rachel McKeon
Tel: 0161 234 4497
Email: rachel.mckeon@manchester.gov.uk
This agenda was issued on Tuesday, 18 May 2021 by the Governance and Scrutiny
Support Unit, Manchester City Council, Level 3, Town Hall Extension (Lloyd Street
Elevation), Manchester M60 2LA.

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 4

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee
Minutes of the meeting held on 10 March 2021
This Scrutiny meeting was conducted via Zoom, in accordance with the
provisions of the Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus)
(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England
and Wales) Regulations 2020.
Present:
Councillor Stone – in the Chair
Councillors Abdullatif, Alijah, Cooley, Kilpatrick, Lovecy, Madeleine Monaghan,
Reeves, Reid, Sadler and Wilson
Co-opted Voting Members:
Ms S Barnwell, Parent Governor Representative
Ms Z Derraz, Parent Governor Representative
Dr W Omara, Parent Governor Representative
Co-opted Non Voting Members:
Mr L Duffy, Secondary Sector Teacher Representative
Also present:
Councillor Bridges, Executive Member for Children and Schools
Amanda Shah, Greater Manchester Immigration Aid Unit
Apologies:
Councillors Chohan, Hewitson and McHale
Ms J Fleet, Primary Sector Teacher Representative
CYP/21/11

Minutes

Decision
To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 2021.
CYP/21/12
Colleges

COVID-19 Update Including the Wider Opening of Schools and

The Committee received a report of the Director of Education which provided a
further update on the impact of COVID on schools and settings in the city. It reported
that schools and colleges were looking forward to welcoming back all of their children
and young people and focused on the wider reopening of school and colleges from 8
March 2021 which was announced by the Prime Minister on 21 February 2021. The
report gave a brief outline of the Government guidance in relation to wider opening
and support for education recovery; information on how this was being implemented
by schools and colleges and the support provided by the Local Authority.
The Director of Education provided the Committee with an update which included:

Page 1

Item 4






The re-opening of primary schools to all pupils;
The re-opening of secondary schools to all pupils, including testing of pupils
for COVID-19;
The rules of the wearing of face coverings in schools; and
Education recovery.

Some of the key points and themes that arose from the Committee’s discussions
were:






What steps were being taken to ensure that the buses children were using to
travel to school were COVID-secure;
To recognise the work of the Director of Education and her service,
headteachers and school senior leadership teams in the way the re-opening of
schools to all pupils had been managed;
The positive impact on children of being able to return to school;
Secondary and college students self-testing for COVID-19; and
Education recovery.

The Director of Education reported that she had contacted Transport for Greater
Manchester (TfGM) and asked for written assurance of the measures in place to
ensure the safety of children travelling to school by bus. She offered to share their
response with the Chair, once she had received it, to which the Chair agreed, stating
that he would share it with the rest of the Committee. She explained that, if a pupil
self-tested at home as positive for COVID-19, they would have to self-isolate but also
be given a PCR test through a testing centre before they would be classed as a
positive case. She advised that she could circulate a table of information which
explained what would happen following the test result, depending on the
circumstances. In response to a Member’s question, she explained that, after
learning how to carry out the COVID-19 test at school, if a pupil still struggled to carry
it out at home, schools could still provide on-site testing for these pupils. She
confirmed that her service was monitoring the level of consent to testing at schools
across the city and, in areas where it was low, working with schools, the
Communications Team and Neighbourhood Teams to encourage parents and pupils
to participate in the testing.
In response to a Member’s question, the Director of Education advised that part of
education recovery could include summer schools and it was likely that individual
schools would have discretion over this but that on site summer schools did not
necessarily need to be run by school staff and other providers could be brought in.
In response to a Member’s concerns that some schools were not putting in place the
same level of safety measures for teaching assistants as they were for teachers, the
Executive Member for Children and Schools advised that the Council had
communicated clearly that all school staff should be given the same level of
consideration and explained how the Council was working with trade unions and
schools to address these issues.
Decision
To note that the Director of Education will share TfGM’s response, once she has

Page 2

Item 4

received it.
CYP/21/13

School Governance Update

The Committee received a report of the Director of Education which outlined the
support and future planned developments that the Council would provide to assist
with fostering effective school governance across the city including governor
recruitment, governor training, development and resources.
Officers referred to the main points and themes within the report, which included:




Governor recruitment;
Diversity of those applying for Governor roles; and
Governor support.

Some of the key points and themes that arose from the Committee’s discussions
were:






To thank officers for their work and to thank the volunteers who took on roles
as School Governors;
To welcome that Governor recruitment was continuing during the pandemic,
using virtual interviews, and that more Governors were being recruited from
Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups and to ask what had been
done differently which had resulted in more applications from these groups;
Work to fill vacant Governor posts; and
Request for ward level information on Governor vacancies to enable ward coordination work to assist with filling these vacancies.

The School Governance Lead advised that it was likely to be a range of factors which
had resulted in an increase in applications from BAME communities, including
increased prominence of the vacancies on the Manchester Jobs website, increased
presence on social media, people working from home during lockdown, national
campaigns and word of mouth in communities. She advised that her team would be
monitoring this, looking at the application process in more detail and also looking at
retention rates. She welcomed the opportunity to work with Members and
stakeholders at a ward level to fill vacancies. In response to a Member’s question,
she outlined the plans to develop a focus group on how to improve recruitment of and
support for Parent Governors. She also informed Members that her team supported
Governors from maintained schools and academies and offered assistance with
Governor recruitment to different types of schools.
Decision
To thank the School Governance Lead and all those involved in the recruitment of
Governors for their work.

Page 3

Item 4

CYP/21/14 Responding to the Needs of Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking
Children (UASC) and the Children of Manchester who are Affected by the
European Union Settled Status Scheme
The Committee received a report of the Strategic Director of Children and Education
Services which summarised the offer and outcomes being achieved in relation to Our
Children (Looked After Children) who were affected by European Union Settled
Status (EUSS), Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) and all children in
care who were not British Nationals.
Officers referred to the main points and themes within the report, which included:








Health needs of UASC;
Education of UASC;
Managing risk;
Accommodation for UASC;
Leaving care;
European Union Settled Status (EUSS) Scheme; and
Our Children who were not British Nationals.

Amanda Shah from the Greater Manchester Immigration Aid Unit (GMIAU) welcomed
the pledge that the Council had made 2020 to all children in care and care leavers in
Manchester affected by Brexit immigration changes and the work which had taken
place to support these young people, which she advised had provided a positive
model for other local authorities. She emphasised the need to support young people
who did not meet the deadline for the EUSS Scheme in June 2021 and would be in
the UK illegally from 1 July 2021. She highlighted the section in her report,
appended to the main report, which suggested the following update to the pledge:
‘To our children in care and care leavers, learning from our support to children
and young people affected by Brexit immigration changes, we will:





Identify all our looked after children and care leavers with insecure
immigration status
Commission legal advice so they can be supported to make the most
appropriate immigration applications and challenge immigration
refusals
Support those who are eligible to apply for British citizenship
Continue to provide access to leaving care services’

The Executive Member for Children and Schools thanked Ms Shah and Council
officers for their work. He emphasised the need to prioritise young people who had
been refused settled status. He supported the proposed updated pledge and
embedding thinking about immigration status in permanence planning for young
people.
Some of the key points and themes that arose from the Committee’s discussions
were:


Support for the proposed update to the pledge;

Page 4

Item 4








Concern for the children who did not meet the deadline for the EUSS Scheme
and to welcome the work to support them;
That Members should campaign on this issue;
Waiting times for Home Office decisions on young people’s immigration
status;
Reasons for young people’s immigration applications being declined;
To note the important role foster carers were playing in supporting these
children and young people; and
How Ward Councillors could find out about cases in their ward and intervene
to support young people’s immigration cases.

The Strategic Director of Children and Education Services advised that there were
confidentiality issues in sharing personal information about young people with Ward
Councillors but that young people could be made aware of Ward Councillors as a
source of advocacy support.
Amanda Shah explained that a lot of the delays in relation to the EUSS Scheme were
in getting to the point of submitting an application because the way it was set up
made it difficult for children with disrupted life histories, and this was exacerbated by
the pandemic. She advised that young people could be rejected on the grounds of
eligibility or suitability, the latter relating to youth offending. She informed the
Committee that the GMIAU was about to produce a report on the situation for UASC
in Manchester and the delays in decisions on their cases due to the pandemic. She
welcomed that it appeared that a move to remote interviewing for their asylum claims
would be taking place as she advised that delays for these young people had had a
serious negative effect on them, particularly on their mental health. In response to a
Member’s question, the Service Lead outlined how mental health support was
provided to young people supported by her service, in partnership with Child and
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS). She also outlined how young people
were supported through life story work, work to enable them to get a basic
understanding of the legal process and structures in place in the UK and help to find
family members around the world.
Decisions
1.

To support the updated pledge outlined in the appendix to the report.

2.

To note that Members of the Committee will campaign for the interests of
these young people, supporting them through both their Council work and their
political work.

CYP/21/15

Lyndene - Re-modelling and Next Steps

The Committee received a report of the Strategic Director of Children and Education
Services which provided an overview of plans for Lyndene Children’s Home to be
repurposed to provide outreach help and support alongside a short break package;
thus enabling children and young people to remain within or move back to their family
environments (parents or foster care) as well as providing close family support during
this time.

Page 5

Item 4

Officers referred to the main points and themes within the report, which included:






Proposed funding model;
Needs of children and their families/carers;
Service model;
Proposed timeline; and
Progress.

Some of the key points and themes that arose from the Committee’s discussions
were:




Governance arrangements, including the importance of families being part of
the governance structure and how Councillors could be involved;
The challenges for young people with Special Educational Needs and
Disability (SEND) transitioning to adult services and plans to support this
group; and
Would Lyndene be subject to Regulation 44 visits.

In response to a Member’s question on placement figures, the Executive Member for
Children and Schools advised that the Corporate Parenting Panel received regular
reports on this but that updates on this could be provided to a future meeting of this
Committee, to which the Chair agreed.
The Deputy Director of Children’s Services informed the Committee that children and
young people and their families had been involved in the design of this service and
that the Council was committed to them continuing to have a voice in the running of
the service. He advised that the service would be subject to regular scrutiny,
including political scrutiny through this Committee scrutinising the service’s
effectiveness. He informed Members that his service was working with adult services
to improve transitions and recognised that planning for children and young people
should not end at a certain age and that planning should include considerations
about transition to services for adults. He suggested that the Committee might want
to consider a report on the work to improve transitions for young people who would
continue to require support into adulthood at a future meeting.
The Strategic Commissioning Lead (Children’s Services) informed the Committee
that work was taking place to commission accommodation for young people aged 17
and over to support their transition to adult services. She reported that a listening
workshop was also being held to understand some of the issues that arose with the
transition to adult services.
The Strategic Director of Children and Education Services advised that the provision
at Lyndene would be registered with and regulated through Ofsted and would receive
Regulation 44 visits. He reported that his service would be recruiting Regulation 44
visitors, including Councillors, to carry out this role. He advised that Lyndene was
part of the Council’s SEND Offer and its performance would also be monitored
through the SEND Board.
In response to a Member’s question, the Director of Education confirmed that there
had previously been proposals for a similar provision at the Grange School’s site but

Page 6

Item 4

that there had been a number of challenges regarding this, in particular registering
the site to provide that offer when it was also a school, and that the space was now
being well used as a sixth form provision for the Grange, which included training in
living independently.
A Member who was on the panel for the Lyndene Project, as a member of the
Manchester Parent Carer Forum, reported that parents of children with SEND felt
strongly that they wanted their children to be supported within the city, in preference
to a residential placement outside of Manchester. She advised that the work on
Lyndene had been a co-production, involving parents, and that, as long as families
continued to be involved in this way, this project would continue to move in the right
direction. She thanked the Strategic Commissioning Lead and her team for their
work.
Decisions
1.

To request that figures on placements for Our Children be included in a future
report.

2.

To receive a further report on Lyndene in 12 months’ time.

[Ms Barnwell declared a personal interest as she was on the panel for the Lyndene
Project, as a member of the Manchester Parent Carer Forum.]
CYP/21/16

Overview Report

A report of the Governance and Scrutiny Support Unit was submitted. The overview
report contained key decisions within the Committee’s remit, responses to previous
recommendations and the Committee’s work programme, which the Committee was
asked to approve.
In response to a Member’s question about the music service at One Education, the
Executive Member for Children and Schools advised that discussions were taken
place between the Council, trade unions and One Education about this. The Chair
requested to be kept informed of this. A Member requested that the Committee
receive a report about One Education. The Chair advised that the Committee had
previously received a report on One Education and that he would discuss the timing
of a future report on One Education after the meeting.
The Chair informed the Committee that this was his last meeting and thanked
officers, Committee Members and the Executive Member for Children and Schools
for their work, as well as the teachers, headteachers and children of Manchester.
Members thanked Councillor Stone for his contribution to the Committee over many
years and the way he had chaired the Committee over the previous three years. The
Chair also thanked Councillor Madeleine Monaghan for her work, as this was also
her last meeting. Councillor Monaghan thanked the Committee for their passion and
commitment to the children and young people of Manchester.

Page 7

Item 4

Decision
To note the report and agree the work programme, subject to the above comments.

Page 8

Item 5

Manchester City Council
Report for Information
Report to:

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee – 26 May 2021

Subject:

Manchester Safeguarding Partnership (MSP) Annual Report
2019/2020

Report of:

Independent Person Dr Henri Giller

Summary
This is the first year that the revised Manchester Safeguarding Partnership (MSP)
has produced an Annual Report that covers both Adult and Children’s Safeguarding
Arrangements and how effective they are.
The report details the strategic priorities and what we have achieved, reports on our
annual assurance activity and what we have learnt from practice reviews undertaken
where there was a serious incident. We celebrate examples of good practice and
conclude with Dr Henri Giller Independent Person report MSP effectiveness.
Recommendations
To consider and comment on the information present in the report.

Wards Affected: All
Environmental Impact Assessment - the impact of the issues addressed in this report
on achieving the zero-carbon target for the city
Nil

Our Manchester Strategy outcomes Summary of how this report aligns to the
OMS
A thriving and sustainable city:
supporting a diverse and distinctive
economy that creates jobs and
opportunities

Effective safeguarding arrangements
contributes to a capable and resilient workforce
across all economic groups

A highly skilled city: world class and
MSP safeguarding arrangements contributes to
home grown talent sustaining the city’s a competent and effective workforce
economic success

Page 9

Item 5

A progressive and equitable city:
making a positive contribution by
unlocking the potential of our
communities

Children young people and families face
safeguarding challenges when these are
addressed in a timely way with effective
interventions thereby combatting inequalities to
enable us to thrive as a city

A liveable and low carbon city: a
N/A
destination of choice to live, visit, work
A connected city: world class
N/A
infrastructure and connectivity to drive
growth
Contact Officers:
Name: Dr Henri Giller
Position: Independent Chair of the Manchester Safeguarding Partnership
Telephone: 07500830760
E-mail: henri.giller@manchester.gov.uk
Name: Marie Corran
Position:MSP LEARNING AND Assurance Lead
Telephone:07583069434
E-mail: marie.corran@manchester.gov.uk
Background documents (available for public inspection):
The following documents disclose important facts on which the report is based and
have been relied upon in preparing the report. Copies of the background documents
are available up to 4 years after the date of the meeting. If you would like a copy
please contact one of the contact officers above.
MSP Annual Report Executive Summary

Page 10

Item 5

1.0

Introduction

This report reviews the first period of operation of the new Manchester Safeguarding
Partnership (MSP), between October 2019 and March 2020 and the Board activity
from April 2019 in the old arraignments. The MSP heralds an integrated approach to
safeguarding across the life course, child and adult. These new arrangements
supersede the previous discrete accountability structures of the Local Safeguarding
Children Board and the Local Safeguarding Adult Board.
The new Partnership has enabled us to review and refresh our strategic aims for
safeguarding, revise our leadership and accountability structures and introduce more
effective contributions from local people via restructured safeguarding forums. The
new Partnership has embraced the need for more effective learning and
improvement on safeguarding issues.
To view the published Manchester Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements
documents, initially published in June 2019 and a follow up agreed in December
2019, see here:
www.manchestersafeguardingpartnership.co.uk/manchester-multi-agencysafeguarding-arrangements-mmasa/
2.0

Background

This Manchester Safeguarding Partnership annual report is produced as part of the
Adult Board’s statutory duty under The Care Act 2014 and Chapter 141 of the Care &
Support Guidance and the Children’s Board requirements in s41 Working Together
2018.
The MSP is required to produce a report at least once in every 12-month period
which must set out what MSP have done as a result of the safeguarding
arrangements, and how effective these arrangements have been in practice. The
report details adult and child safeguarding business for the timeframe identified.
The report focuses on the MSP 3 pillar of activity. Firstly, strategic leadership and
accountability, secondly assurance and scrutiny and finally learning from reviews.
The report provides the reader with an overview of decisions and actions taken by
the partners and how we implemented the recommendations of any local and
national child safeguarding practice reviews, including any resulting improvements. It
is also important to us that we evidence the impact of our improvements and how this
impact on our beneficiaries.
3.0

Annual Report: Main Themes

The MSP vision is Working together to create a place where all children and
adults in Manchester are safe, free from abuse and neglect and supported to
live happy and healthy lives’
The Partnership Strategic Priorities which contributed to this vision in 2019/2020 are
detailed below.

Page 11

Item 5

Priority
Adverse Childhood
Experiences (ACEs)

What we said
Workforce skilled up in
ACE awareness and
Trauma
Mitigation against the
impact of lived ACEs and
prevent ACEs in future
generations
Better understanding of
ACEs by workforce
Manchester is a trauma
informed city.

Child Neglect

Consistent approach to
neglect across the
Partnership
Improved outcomes for
children experiencing
neglect
Partnership workforce is
knowledgeable, confident
and competent in
preventing, intervening
and protecting families
where neglect is an
element.

What we did
ACEs workshop
MSP (Manchester
Safeguarding
Partnership) held two full
day train the trainer
events
ACEs incorporated into
new neglect strategy
ACEs info updated on
MSP website.

Neglect Strategy, toolkit
and Implementation Plan
in place
Implementation of GCP2
(Graded Care Profile 2) –
train the trainer model of
GCP2 training
implemented across the
partnership
The next step for the
partnership is to evaluate
the training delivered and
review implementation of
the tool in practice
Neglect and GCP2
training are currently part
of MSP training offer
Neglect communications
campaign launched
Updated neglect strategy
and toolkit currently in
progress

Self Neglect in Adults

Consistent approach to
self-neglect across the
Partnership

Page 12

Self-neglect and Hoarding
strategy and toolkit
published April 2019

Item 5

Workforce are aware of a
clear escalation process

Mental Health

Partnership workforce is
knowledgeable, confident
and competent in
identifying, supporting
and reducing risk for
those at risk of selfneglect.
Consistency in practice
across the partnership
Workforce reports
increasing confidence

Self-neglect and Hoarding
Conference 4th Sept
2019
Completion of Managing
High Risk Together multiagency document

Mental Capacity Act
(MCA) workshop part of
self-neglect conference
Sept 2019
Mental Capacity
Assessment Audit has
been commenced across
the partnership
Population Health led a
suicide prevention
learning circle
CAMHS (Child and
Adolescent Mental Health
Services) led learning
event around mental
health and education

Transitions

Workforce has a clear
understanding of and
commitment to the
Transitions process
Early identification of
lifelong service
MSP is assured that
partnership arrangements
ensure appropriate safe
transitional arrangements
are in place

Complex Safeguarding

Every child, young person
and adult in Manchester
with complex
safeguarding needs at
risk of exploitation to be
able to access an

Page 13

MSP received regular
assurance reports from
the Transitions Board and
encouraged progress in
key areas such as
workforce development
Transition Transformation
Plan in progress

Overarching Complex
Safeguarding Strategy
developed

Item 5

established multi-agency
support pathway
Continue to develop the
effectiveness of the
Complex Safeguarding
Hub

Positive LGA (Local
Government Association)
Child Sexual Exploitation
Peer Review with heavy
focus on Manchester
Complex Safeguarding
Hub

Continue to develop
Understanding
specific multi-agency
Exploitation Course
pathways for adults at risk developed.
of exploitation (criminal
and sexual)
Workforce feels
knowledgeable, confident
and competent in working
with children, young
people, adults and their
families where complex
safeguarding issues
feature
Assurance Function
The two priority pieces of assurance work for the partnership were the s11 Children’s
Audit and Adult Assurance Statement. Improving the way key people and bodies
safeguard and promote the welfare of children and vulnerable adults is crucial to
improving outcomes and life chances. Section 11 (s11) of the Children Act 2004
places a statutory duty on key organisations to make arrangements to ensure that in
discharging their functions they have regard to the need to safeguard and promote
the welfare of children. The Care Act 20141 (Section 43(3)) requires the
Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) to ensure the effectiveness of what each of its
member does in helping and protecting individuals from abuse and neglect and
delivering the outcomes that enhance their wellbeing.
The outcome of the assurance exercise for children is captured below
Children’s Assurance Audit
S11 SelfThematic Assessment Area
Assessment
Rating
 The highest number of Green responses came from the
section where agencies were asked to assess themselves as
being A Safe Organisation with Clear Whistleblowing and
Safe Recruitment procedures
 Seven agencies rated themselves as Amber overall for
Section 1: A Culture of safeguarding

Page 14

Item 5






Seven agencies rated themselves as Amber overall for
Section 2: A Safe Organisation and one agency felt this
section was not applicable to them
Five agencies rated themselves as Amber overall for Section
3: Voice of Child / Parents / Staff and 4 agencies felt this
section was not applicable to them
Ten agencies rated themselves as Amber overall for Section
4: MSP related themes
1 agency rated themselves as Red for MSP related themes
and 3 agencies felt this section was not applicable to them

Learning from Practice Review and Improvement exercises
Child Practice Reviews
Child Practice Review Panel met regularly through the period in question, 10 referrals
for SCR were received. 5 of those were pre the new arrangements and 5 post.
Reviews. Up to two Serious Case Reviews were commissioned during this period
(one as a result of a referral from the previous period) and 6 Learning Reviews (one
was referred in the previous period).
All published reports have an action plan, and these are monitored by the Child
Practice Review Panel.
The learning themes for 2019/2020 are child sexual abuse and multi-agency working,
parental mental health and the impact of neglect on children.
MSP has completed several learning events:
CAMHS led suicide and education learning circle
NHS Health Agencies led learning event around looked after children with complex
health needs.
Children’s Social Care led two learning circles (a) parental mental health (b) support
for care leavers who are parents.
MSP shared a desktop review of practice improvement which featured abusive head
trauma and was completed by an independent reviewer.
A further learning event was led by Youth Justice featuring death from bladed item,
which came from a referral received in March 2019.
Scrutinising the new Manchester Safeguarding Partnership arrangements
(April 2019 to March 2020)
The new safeguarding partnership arrangements in Manchester included a
requirement that they become subject to an annual cycle of independent scrutiny and
challenge.
This section of the report provides the scrutiny of the Independent Person of the
Manchester Partnership of the first working year of the new partnership
arrangements.

Page 15

Item 5

The framework for scrutiny adopted was the criteria set out in Sir Alan Wood (para.
69 Wood report: review of the role and functions of local safeguarding children
boards (2016)). These criteria are said to reflect the key strategic issues that need to
authorise and underpin effective multi-agency practice.
Determining the physical area of operation covered by the multi-agency
arrangements
Judgement: Green
The authorising vision for multi-agency arrangements, the partnership commitment
Judgement: Green
The resource framework, e.g. the cost of the multi-agency strategic decision- making
body, the cost of agreed initiatives, e.g. joint training, agreed local research,
innovation in service design
Judgement: Amber
The method to assess outcomes of multi-agency practice, including how intervention
happens if performance falters, and how “independent” external assurance/scrutiny
will be utilised.
Judgement: Amber
The strategy for information and data sharing, including to allow for identification of
vulnerable children in need of early help.
Judgement: Amber
High level oversight of workforce planning, e.g. gaps in skilled areas.
Judgement: Amber
A multi-agency communication strategy on protecting children
Judgement: Amber
Risk strategy, identifying and adapting to challenges including new events, and
establishing a core intelligence capacity.
Judgement: Green
The model of local inquiry into incidents
Judgement: Amber
MSP Strategic Plan 2020/2021
Our Partnership Actions Are:
Embedding our Partnership Approach
Partnership Effectiveness and Independent Scrutiny
Our Partnership Priorities Are:
Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES)
Neglect
Mental Health
Transitions

Page 16

Item 5

Complex Safeguarding
4.0

Recommendations

The Scrutiny Committee is asked to note the progress of the revised safeguarding
partnership arrangements in the City during its first period of implementation. Further
work will be undertaken in 2020-21 to address the issues currently judged as amber
in the independent scrutiny report and embed the partnership arrangements.

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1, Item 5

Manchester Safeguarding
Partnership
Annual Report 2019-2020
Working together to create a place where all children and adults in
Manchester are safe, free from abuse and neglect and supported to
live happy and healthy lives

Published: Dec 2020

Page 19
1

Appendix 1, Item 5

Table of contents
1.

Our Priorities ........................................................................................................... 3

2.

Developing our new Arrangements ................................................................... 4

3.

New arrangements and the new structure ...................................................... 5

4.

MSP assurance and scrutiny report .................................................................. 7
Leadership and Accountability and Executive Groups ...................................... 7
Subgroup reports .......................................................................................................... 7
Child Practice Review Panel ...................................................................................... 9
Adult Practice Review Panel ...................................................................................... 9
Child Death Overview Panel ..................................................................................... 10
Complex Safeguarding Subgroup .......................................................................... 10
Locality Fora ................................................................................................................. 11
Private Fostering ......................................................................................................... 11
LADO (Local Authority Designated Officer) annual reports............................ 11

5. We achieve more when we work together ........................................................... 12
6. Challenges .................................................................................................................... 13
7. Strategic Objectives for 2020/2021 ........................................................................ 14

The first part of the report reviews our Strategic priorities and the progress against
them over the 2019/20 period.
The latter part of the report looks at our
Board and subgroup activity under the
new arrangements, including the
impact we have made, followed by our
plans as we move into 2020/21.
The period has seen some major
changes to the way we work, not only
with the implementation of the new
arrangements but also towards the end
of the period, the Coronavirus
pandemic, which has challenged how
we operate as a Partnership and yet
taught us many new skills.

Page 20
2

Appendix 1, Item 5

1. Our Priorities
The below priorities were agreed:
Priority

What we said

What we did

Adverse Childhood
Experiences (ACEs)

Workforce skilled up in ACE
awareness and Trauma

ACEs workshop

Child Neglect

Mitigation against the impact of
lived ACEs and prevent ACEs
in future generations

MSP (Manchester
Safeguarding Partnership) held
two full day train the trainer
events

Better understanding of ACEs
by workforce

ACEs incorporated into new
neglect strategy

Manchester is a trauma
informed city.

ACEs info updated on MSP
website.

Consistent approach to neglect
across the Partnership

Neglect Strategy, toolkit and
Implementation Plan in place
Implementation of GCP2
(Graded Care Profile 2) – train
the trainer model of GCP2
training implemented across
the partnership

Improved outcomes for
children experiencing neglect
Partnership workforce is
knowledgeable, confident and
competent in preventing,
intervening and protecting
families where neglect is an
element.

The next step for the
partnership is to evaluate the
training delivered and review
implementation of the tool in
practice
Neglect and GCP2 training are
currently part of MSP training
offer
Neglect communications
campaign launched
Updated neglect strategy and
toolkit currently in progress

Self Neglect in Adults

Consistent approach to selfneglect across the Partnership
Workforce are aware of a clear
escalation process

Mental Health

Partnership workforce is
knowledgeable, confident and
competent in identifying,
supporting and reducing risk
for those at risk of self-neglect.
Consistency in practice across
the partnership
Workforce reports increasing
confidence

Self-neglect and Hoarding
strategy and toolkit published
April 2019
Self-neglect and Hoarding
Conference 4th Sept 2019
Completion of Managing High
Risk Together multi-agency
document
Mental Capacity Act (MCA)
workshop part of self-neglect
conference Sept 2019
Mental Capacity Assessment
Audit has been commenced
across the partnership

Page 21
3

Appendix 1, Item 5

Population Health led a suicide
prevention learning circle
CAMHS (Child and Adolescent
Mental Health Services) led
learning event around mental
health and education
Transitions

Workforce has a clear
understanding of and
commitment to the Transitions
process
Early identification of lifelong
service
MSP is assured that
partnership arrangements
ensure appropriate safe
transitional arrangements are
in place

Complex Safeguarding

Every child, young person and
adult in Manchester with
complex safeguarding needs at
risk of exploitation to be able to
access an established multiagency support pathway
Continue to develop the
effectiveness of the Complex
Safeguarding Hub
Continue to develop specific
multi-agency pathways for
adults at risk of exploitation
(criminal and sexual)

MSP received regular
assurance reports from the
Transitions Board and
encouraged progress in key
areas such as workforce
development
Transition Transformation Plan
in progress

Overarching Complex
Safeguarding Strategy
developed
Positive LGA (Local
Government Association) Child
Sexual Exploitation Peer
Review with heavy focus on
Manchester Complex
Safeguarding Hub
Understanding Exploitation
Course developed.

Workforce feels
knowledgeable, confident and
competent in working with
children, young people, adults
and their families where
complex safeguarding issues
feature

2. Developing our new Arrangements
The first few months of the year were spent developing how the Partnership would
look under the new arrangements and agreeing future priorities.
Alongside this programme of change the Independent Chair for the Adults and
Children Safeguarding Boards Julia Stephens-Row retained the role of Chair for the
Leadership Group until July 2019
Following Julia’s departure and prior to the appointment of our new Independent
Person, Dr Henri Giller, the three safeguarding leads from Manchester City Council,
Manchester Clinical Commissioning Group and Greater Manchester Police made
joint decisions for the Partnership.
Page 22
4

Appendix 1, Item 5

3. New arrangements and the new structure
Three multi-agency joint adult and children workshops were held and led by
independent facilitator to design our arrangements.
A small multi agency project group was set up in order to prepare the partnership for
the day to day side of how we wanted to work differently.
To view the published Manchester Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements
documents, initially published in June 2019 and a follow up agreed in December 2019,
see here:
www.manchestersafeguardingpartnership.co.uk/manchester-multi-agencysafeguarding-arrangements-mmasa/
The previous Manchester Safeguarding Children Board and Manchester Safeguarding
Adult Board structures were integrated to reflect our commitment to represent a whole
family, whole life course approach with a new group structure:




Leadership and Accountability Board replaced both Children’s and
Adults Board
Children’s Executive Group replaced Children’s Leadership Group
Adults Executive Group now fulfils the function of the Safeguarding
Adults Board

The following subgroups were created:







Learning and Improvement (formerly Learning and Development)
Quality Assurance (formerly Quality Assurance Performance Improvement)
Complex Safeguarding
Child Practice Review Subgroup (formerly Serious Case Review Subgroup)
Adult Practice Review Subgroup (formerly Safeguarding Adult Review
Subgroup)
Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP)

A new joint ‘vision’ was agreed:
‘Working together to create a place where all children and adults in Manchester are
safe, free from abuse and neglect and supported to live happy and healthy lives’

Children’s Executive Group: mission
‘Every Child in Manchester is Safe, Happy, Healthy and Successful. To achieve
this we will: Be child-centred, listen to and respond to children and young
people, focus on strengths and resilience and take early action.’
Adult Executive Group: mission
‘Ensuring every citizen in Manchester is able to live in safety, free from abuse
and neglect. Everyone who lives and works in the City has a role to play.’
The Independent Person
Page 23
5

Appendix 1, Item 5

The MSP has also appointed an independent person Dr Henri Giller. The role of
independent person is to provide scrutiny, support and challenge and he chairs the
Adult Executive Group and Children’s Executive Group.
Scrutinising the new Manchester Safeguarding Partnership arrangements (April
2019 to March 2020)
The new safeguarding partnership arrangements in Manchester included a
requirement that they become subject to an annual cycle of independent scrutiny and
challenge. This section of the report provides the scrutiny of the Independent Person
of the Manchester Partnership of the first working year of the new partnership
arrangements. Because this is the first operational period of the partnership, it was
decided that the criteria for scrutiny should be that proposed by Sir Alan Wood in his
report proposing new safeguarding arrangements (para. 69 Wood report: review of the
role and functions of local safeguarding children boards (2016)). These criteria are
said to reflect the key strategic issues that need to authorise and underpin effective
multi-agency practice.
Determining the physical area of operation covered by the multi-agency
arrangements
Judgement: Green
The authorising vision for multi-agency arrangements, the partnership commitment
Judgement: Green
The resource framework, e.g. the cost of the multi-agency strategic decision- making
body, the cost of agreed initiatives, e.g. joint training, agreed local research,
innovation in service design
Judgement: Amber
The method to assess outcomes of multi-agency practice, including how intervention
happens if performance falters, and how “independent” external assurance/scrutiny
will be utilised.
Judgement: Amber
The strategy for information and data sharing, including to allow for identification of
vulnerable children in need of early help.
Judgement: Amber
High level oversight of workforce planning, e.g. gaps in skilled areas.
Judgement: Amber
A multi-agency communication strategy on protecting children
Judgement: Amber
Risk strategy, identifying and adapting to challenges including new events, and
establishing a core intelligence capacity.
Judgement: Green
The model of local inquiry into incidents
Judgement: Amber

Page 24
6

Appendix 1, Item 5

4. MSP assurance and scrutiny report
Leadership and Accountability and Executive Groups
The group is guided by the commitment to ensuring that safeguarding is everyone’s
business and that everyone is playing their part to achieve our vision.
The themes and issues featured included:
IOPs (Integrated Operational Policing System) – GMP (Greater Manchester
Police) A new integrated computerised system and the biggest system change in 30
years for GMP and partners
Overview of Adult and Child Safeguarding Reviews- This enable the partners to
be sighted on the progress of the reviews and to the emerging learning
Operation Augusta and Operation Green Jacket GMP and CSC (Children’s Social
Care) provided assurance on the scale and progress of the operations.
Council led Partnership Self-Assessment to ensure Partnership with Council
involvement are fit for purpose and the governance ensures risks are managed.
Sir Alan Wood Review Consideration was given to the progress of the new multiagency safeguarding arrangements introduced by the Children and Social Work Act
2017.
Development of a workforce survey This survey will complement the s11 and Adult
Assurance Statement providing 360-degree consideration of our safeguarding
arrangements.
Homelessness Thematic Review author Prof Michael Preston Shoot In 2018
Manchester Adult Safeguarding Board recommended, in the public interest and to gain
learning from several cases, it ought to exercise its discretionary power to commission
this thematic learning review.
Strategic Planning and Development February 2020. The session with senior
leaders featured a review of the current structure, recommendations for improvements
and strategic priorities for 2020/2021.
Subgroup reports
Quality Assurance Subgroup
The group is designed to bring together practice and system assurance through a lifecourse lens to improve our safeguarding work.
The two priority pieces of work for the partnership were the s11 and Adult Assurance
Statement
The purpose of Section 11 and Adult Assurance Statement is both to assure ourselves
what works well and to help identify where we need to do more.
Page 25
7

Appendix 1, Item 5

The Table below summarises the results were agencies have assessed themselves
as Amber or Red within different thematic areas, and these will be the focus for further
work, along with further interrogation of the data.

Summary results
S11 SelfThematic Assessment Area
Assessment
Rating
 The highest number of Green responses came from the
section where agencies were asked to assess themselves as
being A Safe Organisation with Clear Whistleblowing and
Safe Recruitment procedures
 Seven agencies rated themselves as Amber overall for
Section 1: A Culture of safeguarding
 Seven agencies rated themselves as Amber overall for
Section 2: A Safe Organisation and one agency felt this
section was not applicable to them
 Five agencies rated themselves as Amber overall for
Section 3: Voice of Child / Parents / Staff and 4 agencies felt
this section was not applicable to them
 Ten agencies rated themselves as Amber overall for Section
4: MSP related themes
 1 agency rated themselves as Red for MSP related themes
and 3 agencies felt this section was not applicable to them
Adult Assurance Statement
Rating

Thematic Assessment Area
 26 agencies rated themselves as Green overall for Section 1:
MSP Business Plan (implementation in agencies). This
includes a rating of 33 Agencies rating themselves Green
against 1.1: Staff are encouraged and enabled to prioritise
attendance at multi-agency safeguarding meetings when
requested to;
 29 agencies rated themselves as Green overall for Section 2:
Making Safeguarding Personal
 30 agencies rated themselves as Green for: The organisation
has a workforce development plan specifically for DV&A
(Domestic Violence & Abuse) and actively promotes take-up of
DV&A training by staff at all levels
 9 agencies rated themselves as Amber overall for Section 1:
MSP Business Plan
 6 agencies rated themselves as Amber overall for Section 2:
Making Safeguarding Personal
 14 agencies rated themselves as Amber overall for Section 3:
Learning from Reviews, with the lowest rating (17) being
against: 3.3(c) Raising awareness of the multi-agency High Risk
protocol

 4 organisations gave themselves an overall evaluation of Red
for individual questions. 3 were for: 3.3(c) Raising awareness
Page 26
8

Appendix 1, Item 5

of the multi-agency High Risk protocol and 1 was for 2.1 (MSP)
is embedded into the core business of the organisation
Learning & Improvement Subgroup
The Safeguarding Partnership is required to consider what training is needed locally
and how they will monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of any training they
commission (Working Together 2018).
Online Training
Usage has increased to 5747 courses (5452 in 2018/19) and the course completion rate has
improved to 97% compared to 88% last year. Number of Online Courses accessed - 5747
 Number of online courses non-completed - 196
 Completion rate – 97%
Most learners select safeguarding children courses. Specific adult safeguarding courses are
selected by lower numbers of learners.
Take up of adult courses will be promoted/monitored during 2020/2021.
A total of 993 learners attended 34 events.
The Voluntary Sector representation increased to 21% compared to 12% last year with
representation including alcohol and drug, mental health, domestic abuse, refugee
and BAME (Black, Asian & Minority Ethnic) services.
Child Practice Review Panel
Referrals
During the period 2019/20, 10 referrals for SCR were received. 5 of those were pre
the new arrangements and 5 post.
Reviews
Up to two Serious Case Reviews were commissioned during this period (one as a
result of a referral from the previous period) and 6 Learning Reviews (one was referred
in the previous period).
All finished reports have an action plan and these are monitored by the Child Practice
Review Panel.
Adult Practice Review Panel
Referrals
Number of SAR (Safeguarding Adult Review) referrals - there were 19 referrals none
of these met the criteria for a SAR referral, however 4 presented opportunities for
practice improvement and learning. The main themes were self-neglect, care givers,
and capacity.
Themes
The main themes were carers support, self-neglect and MCA/DOLS (Mental Capacity
Act/Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards).
Page 27
9

Appendix 1, Item 5

Reviews
The MSP hasn’t published a Safeguarding Adult Review in this period. Several reports
are nearing completion with publication anticipated mid-2020.
One SAR was commissioned during this period as a result of a referral from the
previous period (SAR AE). 3 referrals have gone forward into learning reviews around
carers support and neglect and one has been included in the self-neglect thematic
review. Four SARs from the previous period are ongoing and one was agreed and
published in June 2020 (SAR AD).
Action plans
Action plans are in place for SAR and the homeless thematic review, both of which
were signed off during this period.
There were high levels of satisfaction for the Homeless Thematic Review, where panel
members and participants felt that they were able to input into the report and learn
from it at the same time. This review utilised a mix of practitioner and panel meetings.
Child Death Overview Panel
The Manchester Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) has a legal responsibility to
ensure that the deaths of all children 0-17 years of age (excluding stillbirths and legal
terminations of pregnancy) are reviewed. The purpose of the review and analysis is
to identify matters relating to the death, or deaths, that are relevant to the welfare of
children.
There was a total of 62 child death notifications reported to the Manchester CDOP,
with 41 cases discussed and closed between 1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020. The
CDOP conducts the final multidisciplinary review, therefore incurring a time lapse
between a death being reported and the case being discussed and closed at the
Manchester CDOP which depends heavily upon the circumstances leading to death
and various reviews and/or investigations such as CDRMs (Child Death Review
Meeting), post mortem examinations, inquest hearings, criminal proceedings and child
safeguarding practice reviews.
Further information can be found here:.
www.manchestersafeguardingboards.co.uk/child-death-overview-panel-informationpractitioners
Complex Safeguarding Subgroup
The Subgroup has received thematic updates including







sexual exploitation,
vulnerability and organised crime,
modern slavery
missing from home and education,
national reports
best practice learning items.
Page 28
10

Appendix 1, Item 5

The Partnership is satisfied that we are working effectively together, and our
activities are evidence based and impact driven.
The subgroup priorities were




Sexual Exploitation,
Criminal Exploitation,
Modern Slavery

The Community Safety Partnership provided assurance regarding Domestic
Violence and Abuse, Honour Based Violence and Female Genital Mutilation.
The MSP Complex Safeguarding Strategy, was completed and agreed at the Adult
and Children’s Executives in May 2020. The strategy can be found here:
https://www.manchestersafeguardingpartnership.co.uk/resource/complexsafeguarding-in-manchester/
There remains several courses relating to Complex Safeguarding on the MSP Virtual
College site, information for which can be found here:
https://www.manchestersafeguardingpartnershiplearning.co.uk/
Locality Fora
The Locality Fora approach was set up as the connection between the strategic work
of the MSP and frontline practitioners. Its purpose was to ensure that there is a direct
link between practice issues at a local level and the overall direction of the Board.
The Fora, supported by the L&I facilitate discussions where multi-agency practitioners
can safely and openly consider, challenge and change multi-agency practice; and
share and support learning from case reviews and other audits.
Private Fostering
Since April 2019 the Private Fostering Team has worked with 21 cases of which 17
are currently open to the team and all private carers now hold a Disclosure and Barring
Service (DBS) and relevant renewals of DBS are in place. Every child has a Child in
Need (CIN) Plan that is routinely reviewed by their allocated worker and the family.
Further information ca be found here:
https://www.manchestersafeguardingpartnership.co.uk/resource/private-fosteringadvice-children-young-people-families/
LADO (Local Authority Designated Officer) annual reports
Designated Officers are responsible for ensuring local authorities and partners comply
with their statutory obligations outlined in ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children
2018 - A guide to inter-agency working to safeguard and promote the welfare of
children’.1
Collectively there were 569 contacts made to the Designated Officers between 1st
April to 21st March 2020, which were assessed by the Designated Officer to either be
an
1 Working Together to Safeguard Children A guide to inter-agency working to safeguard and promote the

welfare of children 2018

Page 29

11

Appendix 1, Item 5

enquiry or a referral. This is an increase of 131 contacts in the reporting period
2018/2019.
Referrals
These represent the top 3 reported sectors.
Sector making the Referral
Education
Police
Social Care
Sector of the Alleged Adult
Early Years
Education
Health
Social Care

Total Referral
2019/2020
53
26
92
Total Referral
2019/2020
15
72
15
59

This year 44% of all referrals made related to physical abuse.
The second largest category with a percentage of 25% relates to allegations against
adults who may pose a risk to children; linked to unsuitable behaviours.
LADO Priorities for 2020/2021


To embed training for organisations and partners around the role of a
Designated Officer and managing allegations and adults working with
children.



Improve IT solutions to enable more effective responses through virtual multiagency meetings.



Improve performance data and develop a quality assurance mechanism for
overseeing the quality of practice.

5. We achieve more when we work together
Children Social Care Front Door
Practitioners working together in a locality, having conversations, to agree and
provide timely and safe interventions by the right service, at the right time and in the
right way. This will effect positive change for our children to have safe, happy,
healthy and successful lives.
Results:
1. Increased telephone contacts and conversations with partners - feedback
from Partners: better support, improved information gathering, better
outcomes;
2. Reduction in referrals and repeat referrals, the right intervention at the right
Page 30
time - 42.9% and emerging 7% respectively
compared to 12 months ago
12

Appendix 1, Item 5

3. Reduction in ‘unnecessary’ social work assessments: quality assurance
demonstrates improvement in the quality of assessment and better step-down
plans;
4. More effective support to partners and families now provided in relation to
safeguarding - reduced number of children subject to a Child Protection
Planning
Self-Neglect and Hoarding
The Adults Executive developed the MSP Self-neglect Strategy, which was
published in April 2019. To support this, the Executive held a self-neglect conference
in September 2019.
Conference and Toolkit were developed with the input of multi-agency practitioners
and strategic leads.
Launch of the strategy and toolkit took place at
the conference on 4 September 2019, at which
subject specialist speakers contributed, and
included multi-agency learning around topics
such as:
o
o
o
o

how to recognise self-neglect and
hoarding
use of self-neglect and hoarding tools
Making Safeguarding Personal in selfneglect and hoarding cases
learning from Safeguarding Adult
Reviews concerning self-neglect

MSP developed a campaign to inform
practitioners and parents to improve outcomes.
Complex Safeguarding Hub
The LGA Peer Review noted that there was
strong leadership and political support for CSE
(Child Sexual Exploitation).
Overall, the review team concluded that we
were well placed to accelerate progress and
further improvements.

Case Study
Ana (name has been changed) was referred to the
Hub following persistent and prolonged MFH
episodes which were out of character for her. She
was found by her social worker in a barber shop
with another young person sleeping on the sofa.
Ana was assessed by her Complex Safeguarding
social worker in November 2019 as being at high
risk of exploitation without her being seen as she
was missing. This generated a trigger plan for
police. Her social worker met Ana's family and
began to work together sharing information on
sightings or contact from her. On 10th December
Ana met her social worker and she said she didn’t
want to return home and wouldn’t share where she
had been. Ana went missing again and daily
contact continued through which her SW was able
to gain trust and encourage Ana to a place of
safety and she was placed in supported
accommodation in January 2020.
A week later Ana made numerous disclosures of
sexual exploitation involving premises in one part
of Manchester and her SW supported her to make
a police statement. Ana was supported to get back
onto her college course which she continues to be
on.
Ana's Voice - Ana wants to be able to work and
live independently. She hopes to apply to
university in the future.
Practitioner's Voice - This was a hard but
rewarding piece of work and I hope to hear that
Ana is safe in the future and achieved her
dreams.

6. Challenges
In March 2020, life as we know it changed significantly for everyone due to the
COVID-19 pandemic. For us that meant looking at how we work and working
differently.
In response to this, the MSP created information for volunteers in poster format and
updated our website to assist anyone going into a volunteering role who had any
safeguarding concerns.
www.manchestersafeguardingpartnership.co.uk/resource/covid-19-information-forvolunteers/
Page 31
13

Appendix 1, Item 5

7. Strategic Objectives for 2020/2021
Partnership Activity




Embedding our Partnership Approach
Partnership Effectiveness and Independent Scrutiny

Strategic Delivery Objectives







Adverse Childhood Experiences
Childhood Neglect
Adult Neglect including self-neglect
Mental Health
Transitions
Complex safeguarding

Manchester Safeguarding
THREE STATUTORY PARTNERS
Greater Manchester Police GMP
Manchester Health and Care Commission MHCC
Manchester City Council MCC
AGENCIES WHICH FORM PART OF THE
PARTNERSHIP
MCC Adult Services

Community Safety Partnership

Greater Manchester Child Mental
Health
Early Years

Youth Justice Service

Greater Manchester Fire Service

Early Help

Strategic Housing including
Homelessness
Greater Manchester Mental Health

Career Connect

HM Prison Service

CAFCASS

National Probation Service

Manchester Foundation Trust

MCC Children's Social Care

North-West Ambulance Service - NWAS

MCC Education

Northern Care Alliance NHS Group

Healthwatch Manchester

Manchester Targeted Youth Support Service

Independent Person (Chair Adult
Executive and Children’s Executive)

GLOSSARY
ACE’s

Adverse Childhood Experiences

BAME

Black and Minority Ethnic

CAFCASS

Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service

CAMHS

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service

CDOP

Child Death Overview Panel

CDRM

Child Death Review Meeting

CIN

Children in Need

Page 32
14

Appendix 1, Item 5

CSC

Children’s Social Care

CSE

Child Sexual Exploitation

DOLS

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards

GCP

Graded Care Profile

GM

Greater Manchester

GMP

Greater Manchester Police

IOP’s

Integrated Operational Policing System

LA

Local Authority

LAC

Looked After Child(ren)

LADO

Local Authority Designated Officer

LGA

Local Government Association

MASA

Multi-agency Safeguarding Arrangements

MCA

Mental Capacity Act

MCC

Manchester City Council

MFH

Missing from Home

MHCC

Manchester Health and Care Commissioning

MSP

Manchester Safeguarding Partnership

RR

Rapid Review (Working Together 2018)

SAR

Safeguarding Adult Review

SCR

Serious Case Review (also known as Child Safeguarding Practice Review from
2018)

SEN

Special Educational Needs

With thanks to:
Healthwatch Manchester Information Team
The Healthwatch Manchester Citizens Reading Panel
for producing this simplified version of our annual report.

Page 33
15

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 6

Manchester City Council
Report for Information
Report to:

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee – 26 May 2021

Subject:

Impact of COVID-19 on children's services in Manchester,
including schools, settings and the Child and Adolescent Mental
Health Service

Report of:

Deputy Director of Children’s Services

Summary
This report, one of a series of scrutiny reports, reports on the impact and
consequence management of COVID 19 across the Children’s and Education
Directorate. This report has a particular focus on the delivery arrangements and
performance of children’s services. Acknowledging the requirement to view the
support to children as a partnership endeavour, the report also provides an update
on schools and the Child and Adult Mental Health services ongoing response to the
pandemic.
Recommendations
Committee is asked to discuss the report, provide comment on the analysis provided
within the report, which is summarised at section 10 and offer views on priorities for
the Directorate in the ongoing management of resources.

Wards Affected: All
Environmental Impact Assessment - the impact of the issues addressed in this report
on achieving the zero-carbon target for the city

Our Manchester Strategy outcomes Summary of how this report aligns to the
OMS
A thriving and sustainable city:
supporting a diverse and distinctive
economy that creates jobs and
opportunities.

Effective Children and Education Services are
critical to ensuring our children are afforded
opportunities and supported to connect and
contribute to the city’s sustainability and
growth.

Page 35

Item 6

A highly skilled city: world class and
home-grown talent sustaining the
city’s economic success.

Ensuring children and young people are
supported and afforded the opportunity to
access and achieve in the City; empowered
and supported by the delivery of a strong and
cohesive system that works for all children.

A progressive and equitable city:
making a positive contribution by
unlocking the potential of our
communities.

Improving education and social care services
that are connected to the wider partnership
build the resilience of children and families
needed to achieve their potential and be
integrated into their communities.

A liveable and low carbon city: a
destination of choice to live, visit,
work.

Improving outcomes for the children and
families across the City, helps build and
develop whole communities and increases the
liability of the City

A connected city: world class
Successful services support successful families
infrastructure and connectivity to drive who are able to deliver continuing growth in the
growth.
City
Contact Officers:
Name: Sean Mc Kendrick
Position: Deputy Director of Children’s Services
Telephone: 0161 2344934
E-mail: seanmckendrick@manchester.gov.uk
Name: Amanda Corcoran
Position: Director of Education
Telephone: 0161 234 4314
E-mail: amanda.corcoran@manchester.gov.uk
Background documents (available for public inspection):
The following documents disclose important facts on which the report is based and
have been relied upon in preparing the report. Copies of the background documents
are available up to 4 years after the date of the meeting. If you would like a copy
please contact one of the contact officers above.
Since March 2020 each Children and Families Scrutiny Committee has received a
report in respect of Covid19, its impact and the Directorate response.

Page 36

Item 6

1.0 Introduction
1.1 Throughout the COVID 19 pandemic, Manchester's children services and their
partners have sought to continue to ensure the delivery of the services that
underpin our children's strategy; our strategic objectives are children live safe,
happy, health and successful lives. Overall the partnership has demonstrated
flexibility in responding to the challenges of lockdowns and associated
restrictions utilised to contain the virus. Within the safeguarding partnership the
system has drawn from the pre- COVID shared vison for Manchester's children,
supported by a range of strategies and approaches to minimise the impact of
the pandemic on all children.
1.2 The full extent and impact of Covid19 on the development, life chances and
opportunities for the city’s children and young people is not yet fully understood
and may not be for some time. There are themes/issues emerging/ known:







The education gap between those children considered to be
disadvantaged and their counterparts will have widened.
There are indications of increased rates of anxiety and mental health
issues,
The pandemic has increased inequality in the city; there has been 6%
increase in the overall number children being eligible for Free School
Meals; In addition, at times, we have seen on average an 150% increase in
families accessing foodbanks over the past 12 months and financial
hardship becoming a feature of everyday life for many children.
There is a potential for increased levels of school exclusions as some
young people struggle to return to routine and boundaries.
Lack of opportunities for young people post school and college are likely to
lead to increased levels of Not in Employment Education and Training
(NEET) Several children have reported feeling anxious about transition
between school/college phases, their future opportunities and feeling
isolated/lonely. This appears to have the potential to compromise the
aspirations/hopes of young people across the city

2.0 Schools Update
2.1 Schools were open to all their pupils from 8th March 2021 when school
attendance become mandatory again for children who receive their education at
school. Primary schools welcomed back all their pupils from this date and
secondary schools were allowed a staggered return to enable pupils to
complete a lateral flow test on site. Secondary aged pupils were encouraged to
complete 2 lateral flow tests on site before continuing to test themselves each
week at home using testing kits provided by the school. Pupils need to consent
to testing and before the Easter break, consent for testing across all secondary
schools in the City averaged 56.08%.
2.2 Staff across all phases of education including early years are now able to
access home testing lateral flow tests and families with school age children also
able to access home testing kits from testing centres across the City.

Page 37

Item 6

2.3 The Government recently announced that positive results from asymptomatic
testing via lateral flow tests, completed at home and on site require confirmation
from a PCR test. Schools were provided with guidance and advice before the
wider opening to ensure they understood the isolation requirements and actions
to be taken whilst a person is awaiting a confirmatory PCR test result, this
included at what stage to report the positive case to the Manchester Test and
Trace team (MTAT). The online reporting form used by schools to report
positive cases, was amended to include questions on confirmatory PCR testing
once schools were open to all pupils.
2.4 We regularly encourage schools via communications to continue to report their
cases via the online MTAT reporting form to help with data analysis. The MTAT
team provide clinical advice where needed and check the information received
on the forms daily highlighting any issues/concerns to health colleagues and
SSQAs when required, to ensure schools are supported.
2.5 The data below on referrals to test and trace has been provided by schools and
early years settings via the online form during the period 8 March-17 April.
During this six-week period a total of 329 cases were reported to the test and
trace. This is a significant reduction in positive cases since the reopening of
schools – the total number of positive cases reported in the half term period
prior to the closure of schools to all pupils was 904.








71% of all reported cases in school and early years settings were children,
17% were teaching staff and 12% non-teaching staff.
An average of 39 children were reported as COVID-19 positive by schools
each week.
55% of all reported cases were experiencing the common symptoms of
COVID: a persistent cough, a high temperature and/or a loss of taste or
smell.
Most reported cases have been in primary or secondary settings. The
number of cases in Primary settings has fluctuated week-on week but
remains at an average of 30 cases per week.
Reported cases in secondary settings slightly increased over this period,
with a weekly average of 14 cases.
A total of 6,723 children and 521 adults have been told to self-isolate as a
result of COVID-19 during this six- week period.
Positively, cases reported demonstrate the high proportion of schools who
are making their own independent decisions on identifying contacts of
reported cases and instructing to self–isolate.

3.0 School Attendance
3.1 Overall attendance in mainstream schools started well and schools have been
very positive about the return of their pupils. We are aware however, that there
are a significant number of pupils abroad who have not returned to school since
attendance became mandatory. Many of these pupils are in countries now
classified as red and will be required to pay to quarantine on their return. Where
possible schools have been trying to make and maintain contact with these
families and encourage them to return to school. Schools are following DFE

Page 38

Item 6

guidance regarding dealing with this situation and it is being monitored by the
Local Authority.

Phase
SECONDARY
MAINSTREAM
Special School
PRIMARY MAINSTREAM
Overall

WC 15th
March

WC 19th April

WC 26th April

92.48%

92.17%

92.80%

81.71%
95.08%
93.09%

82.08%
94.55%
93.22%

83.74%
95.49%
94.08%

3.2 The above table shows attendance rates at schools following the opening of
schools to all pupils in March and then in the weeks after Easter break. The
table shows that attendance is continuing to improve in all phases of education.
The normalisation of children's experiences including that of school attendance
will, for many, develop their resilience and assist their transition back to some
degree of normality as restrictions ease whilst also enabling children to reach
their own academic and social aspirations.
3.3 The Attendance & Exclusion Team continue to operate a telephone helpline and
email for schools/families/agencies to use as needed. This has been promoted
throughout the year in a variety of formats. Weekly data analysis indicates
schools where attendance is lower than expected and support and advice is
offered to these schools. The Attendance & Exclusion Team are to hold
summer term Attendance Clinics in each district.
3.4 Special school attendance remains below the level it was during the Autumn
term (84.76%) although it is improving each week. Schools are working with
families to encourage them to return children to school, but some families
remain concerned about potential risks to their children. A Special Schoolspecific attendance clinic was held in the Spring Term, and following positive
feedback, this will be added to our clinic timetable moving forward, with one
planned for the summer term.
3.5 This academic year there have been 42 permanent exclusions in total with 9
since 8 March 2021 when school were open to all pupils. This is lower than at
this time in previous years, however, it is difficult to draw any conclusions from
that comparison due to the period of restricted opening during this academic
year. Of these permanent exclusions, 12 were from schools outside of
Manchester. Only 1 is from a primary school and there have been no exclusions
from special schools. The most common reason for exclusion is persistent
disruptive behaviour/physical assault on a pupil.
4.0 OFSTED Monitoring Visits
4.1 Throughout the autumn term, Ofsted carried out ‘visits’ to 10 Manchester
schools. These visits looked at how schools were getting pupils back up to
speed after so long at home. They consisted of collaborative conversations,
without any judgements being made. Headteachers reported that inspectors
listened to their experiences and provided constructive challenge around their

Page 39

Item 6

plans going forward. The visits were not graded, and no concerns were raised
in any school. For each school, a short letter has been uploaded to the Ofsted
website helping parents to understand what steps were being taken to help
children back into full-time education.
4.2 During the spring term, Ofsted conducted additional section 8 monitoring
inspections in 9 Manchester schools that had previously been judged
‘inadequate’ or ‘requires improvement’. Most of these inspections were
conducted remotely. Inspectors explored how leaders were ensuring all pupils
had access to a full education offer during the national lockdown, both those at
home as well as those at school. They also looked at how the school’s
curriculum was being developed. The outcome of all the inspections was
overwhelmingly positive and most reports have been published on the Ofsted
website. In all schools, leaders and governors were judged to be taking effective
action to provide education in the current circumstance.
4.3 From the 4th of May, some inspections under the Education Inspection
Framework (EIF) will restart and will take place on site. These include section 8
monitoring inspections of schools graded ‘inadequate’, and those graded
‘requires improvement’ at their last 2 consecutive full inspections. Ofsted will
also inspect ‘good’ schools that, due to the pandemic, have not had an
inspection within the statutory 5-year window. These will be section 8
inspections and follow their usual approach to inspecting good schools.
4.4 In line with their usual policy, where inspectors find evidence that an inadequate
school has improved and is no longer inadequate, they will be able to convert
this to a section 5 (‘full’) inspection, which will be graded. Where inspectors find
evidence that a ‘requires improvement’ school has improved, they will
recommend that a full inspection is carried out before the end of the summer
term. Unless significant concerns are raised, Ofsted will not inspect secondary
schools in the first half of the summer term. They will be included in inspection
schedules from 21 June. This will allow leaders and staff to focus on assigning
and submitting teacher-assessed grades.
5.0 Early Years Update
5.1 Currently there are 127 out of 133 Early years settings open with an average of
5120 children attending each day. Of these settings 41 are in the north, 47
central and 39 in the south of the city. Out of 397 childminders we currently
have 315 childminders open. These closures are not due to Covid-19.
5.2 The number of children attending settings is increasing but north and central
have fewer children than last year overall. In south we are seeing similar
numbers and some settings are busier. Settings are providing home learning
activities and weekly welfare calls for children not attending due to Covid-19
concerns or isolating due to Covid-19 restrictions but are on roll.
5.3 Lateral flow tests have now been sent to settings for use by staff twice a week at
home. Settings have been reporting increased in costs for PPE, to implement

Page 40

Item 6

control measures but this has been mitigated against with the recent covid-19
restrictions grant linked to business rates, that settings have received.
5.4 Difficulties with staff accessing mandatory training during lockdown such as
paediatric first aid and safeguarding have now been removed. The Council’s
Designated Safeguarding lead training is being offered online for childminders
and settings this term and delivery of two train the trainer sessions for
Designated safeguarding leads is planned for settings in May 2021.
5.5 Termly virtual support visits have continued to take place. The Early Years
Development forums and six Quality forums for childminders also were
delivered in the first two weeks in February 2021 with input from Early Help,
safeguarding and support for providers on operating during this lockdown.
5.6 All providers are having virtual meetings with the Quality Assurance team to
provide support and challenge on practice. Most support currently is being given
on managing positive Covid-19 cases and ensuring effective control measures
are in place. Providers are starting to prepare for the implementation of the
revised Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) framework. Dates are in place for
three Early Years Development Forums for settings and three childminding
quality forums to cover the revised EYFS in May 2021 and six mixed follow up
face to face sessions in June 2021 if Covid-19 restrictions allow.
5.7 The Quality Assurance team are planning to attend children centre advisory
boards and support the organisation and delivery of school/Early years settings
transition events for the summer term, if this is possible and safe to do so.
5.8 Currently 95% of Early Years settings are good or outstanding as are 88% of
child minders. No graded inspections took place during the spring term.
However, Ofsted carried out interim visits to settings and childminders who
were due inspection if they were inadequate or requires improvement. They
specifically looked at the actions taken to meet ‘welfare requirements notices’
linked to the safeguarding and welfare section of the EYFS. Ofsted carried out
face to face interim monitoring visits to our four early years settings graded as
requiring improvement. It was judged in each case that all actions were met,
letters published to the Ofsted website and the inspectors reported that they
were pleased with the implementation Covid-19 control measures. Settings also
reported that they felt more confident about their practice and confident about
their readiness for full inspections when they take place.
5.9 On-site full inspections of registered early years providers will begin from 4 May.
Ofsted will prioritise providers, judged less than good at their last inspection
(including those who received an interim visit in the autumn term), that
registered recently but have not been inspected, whose first inspection is
overdue, that were not inspected in the last inspection cycle due to the pause in
routine inspection. They will continue to carry out urgent inspections if we have
significant concerns about a provider.

Page 41

Item 6

6.0 Children’s Services
6.1 Children’s services in Manchester have continued to provide services to
vulnerable children and their families throughout the current COVID pandemic.
Since March 2020, the service has operated under the working premise of
“business as usual but doing things differently”. This mission statement
reflected the services commitment to ensure children were safeguarded and
their needs were effectively met. As such the service has, throughout the
pandemic, mindful of relevant health and safety advice, continued to work
directly with children and their families. The service has shown significant
creativity and flexibility in our approach to service provision, whilst at the same
time supporting the partnerships capacity to continue to develop collaboration in
the knowledge that some families require a co-ordinated multi agency level of
support to safegaurd children.
6.2 Since the start of the pandemic staff were rota’d on a two-weekly cycle to either
be working from the office, working from home and visiting children in their
communities and working from home carrying out back-office tasks and
responding to issues when required. This approach has resulted in ensuring the
ongoing safety of Manchester’s children and service delivery as assessed
through both our quantitate and qualitive analysis.
6.3 Throughout the pandemic the Directorate has worked effectively to ensure the
identification of vulnerable children and have since the early phases of the
pandemic jointly risk assessed children with schools to target support for
children. The service supported the expert advice on COVID that children, on
balance, were better off at school than not and as such supported many
children and families to return vulnerable children to attend school during
periods of lockdown ; for some children schools have indicated when there were
fewer children on site this enabled and supported children to develop stronger
relationships with teaching staff, with examples of children reluctant to talk
previously who are now more confident ‘talkers and learners”.
7.0 Early Help
7.1 Throughout the pandemic there have been increased requests for support with
parenting, emotional and mental health support and well – being alongside
continued demand in relation to domestic violence and abuse incidents.
7.2 Adaptation of delivery meant revised guidance for all staff in the service in
relation to face to face contact with families and included, doorstep visits,
outside contact – walking in parks and meeting at other venues i.e., Sure Start
Centres and undertaking home visits where required. Staff liaised with partners
to ensure families were supported and seen and early help practitioners found
creative and innovative ways of engaging, communicating and supporting their
families.
7.3 For many families, poverty and hardship has been exacerbated. As part of the
Councils’ response to COVID food and fuel poverty this was alleviated for some
through the Covid Winter Relief Scheme which was administered through the

Page 42

Item 6

Early Help Service. 2,872 children have benefited from payments to relieve
hardship identified by schools; this equates to £186,640 being distributed to
alleviate hardship. Schools have reported satisfaction with the scheme and
there is ongoing work to look at support over the summer period. In addition,
supermarket vouchers have been provided for children entitled to benefit related
free schools' meals and other vulnerable children during every school holiday
since September 2020.
7.4 In relation to partnership working, multi- agency allocations meetings and Team
Around the Family meetings have continued with good virtual support from
partners. However, the number of Early Help Assessments fell dramatically at
the start of the pandemic but are now beginning to increase again (49
families/89 children in April 2020 rising to 187 families/378 children in February
2021).
7.5 As indicated support to ensure children attended school has been a high priority
for the hubs and early help practitioners have monitored school attendance and
worked with families to understand barriers and liaised with pastoral lead to
resolve issues. Early Help are key partners supporting the school clusters
arrangements and this is ensuring the wider needs of families in the localities
are focused on. Following the resumption of a return of all children to school in
March requests for early help support have been consistently high averaging
800+per month, with a significant increase in March 21 to 1,079 new requests
for Early Help.
7.6 Domestic abuse notifications remain high and Early Help contribute to the daily
multi agency Domestic Abuse and Child Concern (DACC) meetings with police
and social workers. In March 21 there were 1,785 children discussed at the
daily DACCS and 291 went onto to receive an offer of Early Help with most of
the new notifications referred into the social work service due to risk and
complexity.
7.7 Whilst there have been some variations in the volume of requests for support
notably central and north localities experiencing higher requests for support, the
presenting needs across all three localities are broadly similar. We are seeing
pressures related to families experience of lockdown, being isolated, increased
money worries, substance misuse and a corresponding impact on mental health
and family relationships. Analysis of the requests for support highlighted that
mental health/emotional support, domestic violence and abuse and drug and
alcohol abuse are the key presenting needs. In South locality requests for
support have identified an increase in the number of children and young people
self-harming, having suicidal thoughts, and making attempts to take their lives.
Early Help Practitioners have completed online ZSA Suicide Awareness
Training, and some have benefitted from the suicide training. All 3 hubs have an
early prevention integrated community responder (part of the thrive offer) who is
available for consultation with staff, undertakes direct work with young people
who present with mental health risk and or psychosocial distress.
7.8 Demand for parenting support has been high, lockdowns have disrupted the
delivery of face to face and group work evidence-based programmes. In

Page 43

Item 6

response the Early Help Parenting Team developed a telephone appointment
service during the summer to signpost and help parents. The helpline offered
advice, guidance and strategies to parents and was popular and successful but
not be resourced once the term-time delivery of parenting programmes
resumed. There remains a huge demand for parenting programmes across all 3
hubs and similar high demand is reflected in the early years. There is ongoing
work with a range of partners including Manchester Adult Education service,
Early Years, Health providers and voluntary and community groups to develop
the range of parenting provision; current provision has adapted well to virtual,
face to face and one to one support.
7.9 There is a strong focus on ensuring effective identification and support for
babies particularly babies born during Covid, who may have missed out on
developmental opportunities around social and early years contact. This
includes where developmental issues are not identified early enough and
families where safeguarding and significant harm issues are being identified.
During the pandemic we undertook a consultation and engagement as part of
our Start Well Strategy and 201 conversations were held with residents and 97
conversations with staff and volunteers. From these conversations 91% of
families reported that the pandemic had affected their experience of raising a
baby. Families highlighted the lack of socialisation for babies and
parents/carers, isolation from friends, and wider family members and fewer
activities and groups available.
7.10 We are addressing this through the Start Well partnerships and via targeted
projects such as our Thriving Babies and Confident Parents Project. This
project will provide enhanced early pre- and post- natal support for families with
complex vulnerabilities to prevent escalation into pre proceedings and achieve
early permanency for families. A thriving baby’s team has been established and
will work with voluntary, community and adult services to improve the
coordination and offer.
7.11 Pressures related to housing issues are also high and we are anticipating an
increase in the number of referrals to Early Help where families are being
evicted or are in situations where they have debts that bailiffs will be responding
to. Prevention of homelessness is a key priority in the Supporting Families
Programme, (replaced term for Troubled Families) and the Strategic Lead for
Early Help is involved in work in Greater Manchester to look at prevention and
the role of early help.
8.0 Children’s Services
8.1 The graph below demonstrates the number of contacts with children’s advice
guidance and support hubs (AGS), the service welcomes a high number of
discussions between professionals regarding concerns they may have for the
safety and wellbeing of children. This data is a good proxy indictor for a high
level of awareness, within the professional community, of the need to ensure
children are protected from harm. All three areas have experienced an increase
in contacts since the turn of the year which mirrors the trend for support via our
early help service.

Page 44

Item 6

.

8.2 North has maintained contacts in line with data pre-COVID (2019-20- 1153;
2020-21- 1120). There has been a noted increase in contacts from January
2021 and in March 2021.Central has seen a decrease in contacts (but as
highlighted below an increase in referrals). The average contacts pre COVID
2019-20 were 953 compared to a 2020-21 average of 854. South has seen a
significant increase in contacts with 12-month average increased from 863 in
March 2019/2020 to 1120 March 2020/2021. All three areas have seen a rise in
contacts since January of this year.
8.3 1 in 5 contacts to children's services relate to domestic violence and abuse. The
AGS has a well-established triage system to identify families where further
assessment and support from children's services is required. This is informed
through a shared risk assessment informed by information from Police, Health,
Early Help and Social care records. Our approach to protecting children
experiencing domestic abuse is informed by Safe and Together; an
internationally recognised suite of tools and interventions designed to help
professionals become domestic violence informed. The service is engaged in
an academic review of the implementation of the model with the findings of this
review will be available later this year. Throughout the pandemic we have
continued to work effectively with partners to support the non-abusing parent
and assess the impact domestic abuse has upon children’s health welfare and
development.

Page 45

Item 6

8.4 Although contacts to the service increased in first quarter of the calendar year
this did not correspond with a marked increase in referrals to the service. We
believe (through our quality assurance processes) that our threshold for
assessment from children's services is proportionate and as such the data
presented demonstrates that children are not drawn into the statutory service
inappropriately. Reasons for referral and subsequent assessments are variable
and are reflected in the graph below, the data presented below informs the
services planning, resourcing commissioning and improvement activity to
support children in Manchester.

8.5 The service continues to analyse its effectiveness through a mixed approach of
quantitative and qualitative measures. Compliance with a variety of indicators,
as demonstrated from a selection of our compliance data below indicates that
the system is responsive to the timeliness of meetings to plan for children.

Page 46

Item 6

8.6 The culture of performance management within the service is well established
and is supported by a robust suite of performance reports. Our proxy indicator
scorecard below has been the subject of discussions at previous scrutiny
meetings shows mixed performance against demanding targets. The increase
in referral rates have impacted on the average caseloads of social workers,
which is slightly above target. We have reinvigorated our recruitment campaign
in response to this and aim to recruit significant numbers of staff over the
coming months. Visits to children subject to child protection planning in
timescale is strong; we have a robust process to analyse the reason for
lateness which ensures oversight of every child subject to this form of planning.
We have made progress on children who have a permanence plan at the
second review and have plans to further improve our performance. Our edge of
care offer has ensured the number of children looked after by the local authority
is lower than our target. SEE APPENDIX 1
8.7 The principal means by which we managed the qualitative aspects of the
service is through our Quality Assurance Framework (QAF) and in our auditing
of the quality of social work case management activity. Scrutiny committee will
be aware we have refocussed the QAF to focus less on compliance against
tasks and more on the quality of work we do with children and families. We
have utilised the skills of an independent consultant to assist Service Managers
focus on the outcomes for children in the children's circumstances that are
audited; ths has supported a more systemic look at the support children and
families receive and the outcomes generated by intervention. Auditing,
moderation and the learning generated by this is part of a range of activities that
contribute to a monthly report by the Head of Service which has an overarching
examination of the quality of practice in given areas of our operations. This
activity has continued throughout the Pandemic with monthly audits set against
a framework which is informed by our six golden threads of practice which are;
Listening to the voice of the child, management oversight, quality of
assessments and plans, genograms and chronologies, working with and not
doing to and engaging children, parents and carers. In the last quarter we have
audited over 250 children's files; this confirms a gradual increase in the
numbers of audits judged as outstanding and an overall decrease in audits
judged as inadequate. In the first quarter of the year 90% of children whose
circumstances were audited were judged to be good or requires some degree of

Page 47

Item 6

improvement to be good. 7% were judged to be outstanding and 3%
inadequate. Of those judged to be inadequate a learning circle occurs where
professionals involved in the child's life engage in a facilitated discussion that
identifies learning. As such whilst there is some organisational learning through
the experience of COVID we believe that we have been successful in delivering
our mission statement throughout the pandemic.
8.8 As a service we intend to preserve many of the features of technology that have
enabled meaningful engagement between children services and those children
and families we serve. We have learned that as service our staff can work more
agile and efficiently; influenced by engagement with our staff, we are developing
plans to increase agile working post COVID 19.
9.0 Managing the impact of Covid 19 on Well- Being and Mental Health
9.1 There has been significant support delivered across the city to promote
children’s mental health and well-being. This multi-agency local offer has now
been in place since September 2020. This provides a universal, targeted and
bespoke offer for our schools and colleges. All schools have had access to a
detailed directory of resources and contact services, including education
psychology and voluntary, charity sector support.
9.2 All schools have had access to mental health training and awareness sessions
for pupils, parents and staff delivered by healthy schools as part of the
Department of education wellbeing for education return. Most schools have
participated in this offer. We are now rolling out mental health first aid training
from Manchester Mind which will continue as an offer for schools in 2021/22.
9.3 A third of our schools now have a mental health practitioner in school as part of
the mental health in schools' green paper, this will continue to grow year on
year. High Schools have been prioritised for this support. The criteria for this is
that schools have developed a whole school offer for mental health, including
having a mental health lead, which supports this role. Thrive hubs which provide
support for children and young people and families in the community are
progressing and north hub is now live. Central and south will go live later this
year.
9.4 As part of Mental Health Awareness week (w/b 10th May) a recorded webinar
overview of M Thrive in Education is available for schools, colleges and other
agencies to understand the current offer for children and young people.
9.5 The impact on the mental health and wellbeing of young people isolated from
their friends, disconnected with other social outlets, including schools and
colleges has foro some children been a significant issue in managing the impact
of COVID. The Child and adolescent mental health service (CAMHS)
redesigned their service during the lockdown moving quickly to a choice of offer
of Phone and Video, alongside continuing of face-to-face activity for those
families and children and young people at risk of harm to self or others. The
service also focused on raising awareness of the specialist CAMHS services,

Page 48

Item 6

this approach complemented the pre-existing range of online self-help provision
eg Kooth and MIND also aimed at promoting emotional health and well-being.
9.6 Following the lifting of restrictions from the 1st wave, CAMHS then targeted
vulnerable populations through triage due to an increase in A&E presentations
particularly for Autistic Spectrum Disorder presentations and Learning-Disabled
young people in crisis. There was also an Increase in Eating Disorder (CED)
referrals and in their acuity requiring high admission rates to paediatric wards
for refeeding at a level of physically compromised that the team could not
manage within a community refeeding offer. CED funding to meet this demand
has increased in Q4 of 20/21.
9.7 To support the increased presentation within the acute hospital settings of
young people with a behavioural and mental health aspect of their admission,
CAMHS increased the offer to 7 days and provided an in-reach service to all the
hospitals within Manchester.
9.8 A 24-hour help line was also established for all ages CAMHS colleagues report
a 98% performance rate of planned activity pre covid was maintained
throughout the pandemic. From the data it is evident that those with pre-existing
vulnerabilities; Learning Disabled and Eating Disorders have been significantly
impacted by COVID 19. The data also reports significant increased levels of
distress within children and families who were already in services and known
families to CAMHS who struggled and in turn used the emergency aspect of
CAMHS more intensely.
9.9 March 2021 in particular all services experienced an increase above business
as expected/planned/capacity as schools fully returned and restrictions started
to be lifted and the trend is upwards. Potentially indicated that the surge in
presentations and distress for Manchester is starting to emerge as schools
return.
10.0 Summary
10.1 COVID 19 has clearly had a significant impact on the lives and experiences of
young people in the City. Services have had to flex to meet acute demands and
develop either new services or ways of working; this is most evident in our
increasing use of technology, our parenting offer and human resource
deployment; the latter is an area where we are further developing arrangements
for staff to work flexibly.
10.2 Performance against a range of indicators has generally been strong and
although identified need has increased since March there is sufficient resilience
in the service and partnership to continue to effectively meet this level of need.
Planning with partners has continued and developments such as think family,
smoke free homes and vulnerable babies are all excellent examples of our
capacity to strategically plan throughout the pandemic.
10.3 Whilst there has been some good practice and adaptability to the restrictions,
communication within the service has been different and more challenging, we

Page 49

Item 6

recognise that some key messages relating to longer term planning for children
may have been diluted - in part this may explain the lower rates of children with
a permanence plan at second review - we aim to deliver a reset of our
communication and priority setting to further crystallise our expectations of the
quality of practice and strategy.
10.4 To date an analysis of the data points to:









increasing demand for services since schools have returned, increased
inequality and poverty, increased numbers of parents requesting support
for parenting, the vulnerability of babies born during lockdown, the intensity
of the impact of COVID being worse for families with pre-exiting health
vulnerabilities.
Differential need across the three social work teams and resilience to
need.
Children’s attendance has increased.
Rates of exclusion have been relatively low.
Service performance has been strong.
The numbers of children looked after by the authority has been generally
stable during the pandemic.
The vast majority of staff where consulted wish to continue working in an
agile way.

10.5 The service will continue to monitor and respond to the issues above and any
other issues identified by data and professional insight as we continue to
manage the impact of COVID 19.

Page 50

Page 51

Appendix 1, Item 6

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 8

Manchester City Council
Report for Information
Report to:

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee – 26 May 2021

Subject:

Overview Report

Report of:

Governance and Scrutiny Support Unit

Summary
This report provides the following information:





Recommendations Monitor
Key Decisions
Items for information
Work Programme

Recommendation
The Committee is invited to discuss the information provided and agree any changes
to the work programme that are necessary.

Contact Officer:
Name: Rachel McKeon
Position: Scrutiny Support Officer
Tel: 0161 234 4997
Email: rachel.mckeon@manchester.gov.uk

Wards Affected: All

Background Documents (available for public inspection):
None

Page 53

1.

Monitoring Previous Recommendations

This section of the report contains recommendations made by the Committee, responses to them, if they will be implemented, and
if it will be, how this will be done.
Date
8 January
2019
9 October
2019

Item
CYP/19/05
Youth and Play
Services
CYP/19/39
Skills for Life

Page 54
6
November
2019

6
November
2019

Action
A response to this recommendation has
been requested and will be circulated to
Members by email.
A response to this recommendation will
be reported back to the Committee via
the Overview report.

Contact Officer
Amanda Corcoran,
Director of
Education
Amanda Corcoran,
Director of
Education

A response to this recommendation has
been requested and will be reported
back to the Committee via the Overview
report.

Neil Fairlamb,
Strategic Lead
(Parks, Leisure,
Events and Youth)

A response to this recommendation has
been requested and will be reported
back to the Committee via the Overview
report.

Neil Fairlamb,
Strategic Lead
(Parks, Leisure,
Events and Youth)

A response to this recommendation has
been requested and will be reported

Neil Fairlamb,
Strategic Lead

Item 8

6
November

CYP/19/46
Ghyll Head
Outdoor
Education
Centre
CYP/19/46
Ghyll Head
Outdoor
Education
Centre
CYP/19/47
Youth Strategy

Recommendation
To request the needs analysis
ranking information for the 32
wards in Manchester.
To request that the Council
work to ensure that, as far as
possible, all settings are
involved in Skills for Life,
including independent schools,
and that officers look into how
Skills for Life could be
incorporated into the contracts
when Our Children are placed
in non-Council-owned
residential settings.
To recommend that officers
look into how Ghyll Head could
be used by families whose
children are on the edge of
care.
To request that consideration
be given as to how Members
and the Friends of Ghyll Head
can be engaged in the work of
the Stakeholder Board.
To request demographic
information on the young

2019

and
Engagement

6
November
2019

Page 55

CYP/19/48
Youth and Play
Services Young
Manchester
5 February CYP/20/11
2020
The Council's
Updated
Financial
Strategy and
Budget
reports
2020/21
4 March
CYP/20/16
2020
Improving
Children’s
Outcomes
Through
Collaboration
and
Working in
Partnership in
a Locality
22 July
2020

back to the Committee via the Overview
report.

(Parks, Leisure,
Events and Youth)

A response to this recommendation has
been requested and will be reported
back to the Committee via the Overview
report.

Neil Fairlamb,
Strategic Lead
(Parks, Leisure,
Events and Youth)

A response to this recommendation will
be reported back to the Committee via
the Overview report.

Amanda Corcoran,
Director of
Education

To request further information
on how the Manchester
University NHS Foundation
Trust is dealing with smoking
around its hospital sites and to
note that the Executive
Member for Children and
Schools will circulate a briefing
note on work that is already
taking place to address
smoking in pregnancy.
To request that school
governors be included in the
plans for schools and that
CAMHS and the support on
offer be included on the agenda

A response to this recommendation will
be reported back to the Committee via
the Overview report.

Paul Marshall,
Strategic Director
of Children and
Education
Services

A response to this recommendation will
be reported back to the Committee via
the Overview report.

Amanda Corcoran,
Director of
Education
Item 8

CYP/20/26
Manchester's
Transformation
Plan for
Children and

people accessing youth
services, particularly the youth
hubs, including by ward.
To request that clear
information on the availability of
toilet facilities, for example, in
park cafes, be included on
signage in parks.
To request a short note in a
future Overview Report on the
tendering process for the
Educational Psychology
service.

2
December
2020

2
December
2020

Page 56

2.

Young
People's
Mental Health
and Wellbeing
CYP/20/51
Early Help
Evaluation
(2015 - 2020)
CYP/20/51
Early Help
Evaluation
(2015 - 2020)

of a future Chair of Governors
briefing.

To ask officers to consider how
Councillors could help with this
work and to circulate a note to
the Committee Members on
this.
To request that the Early Help
Project Manager provide
information on the number of
families, in relation to the
presentation slides on areas of
the city and the sustainability of
impacts.

A response to this recommendation has
been requested and will be circulated to
Members.

Julie Heslop,
Strategic Head of
Early Help

A response to this recommendation has
been requested and will be reported
back to the Committee via the Overview
report.

Ed Haygarth, Early
Help Project
Manager

Key Decisions

The Council is required to publish details of key decisions that will be taken at least 28 days before the decision is due to be taken.
Details of key decisions that are due to be taken are published on a monthly basis in the Register of Key Decisions.
A key decision, as defined in the Council's Constitution is an executive decision, which is likely:
 To result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the
Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates, or
 To be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the area
of the city.
The Council Constitution defines 'significant' as being expenditure or savings (including the loss of income or capital receipts) in
excess of £500k, providing that is not more than 10% of the gross operating expenditure for any budget heading in the in the
Council's Revenue Budget Book, and subject to other defined exceptions.
Item 8

An extract of the most recent Register of Key Decisions, published on 17 May 2021 containing details of the decisions under the
Committee’s remit is included below. This is to keep members informed of what decisions are being taken and, where appropriate,
include in the work programme of the Committee.
Register of Key Decisions:
Subject / Decision
Early Years & Education System
(EYES) - Additional Funding
(2020/09/01A)

Decision
Maker
City
Treasurer
(Deputy
Chief
Executive)

Page 57

The approval of revenue
expenditure for additional costs
attributed to the implementation of
the Liquidlogic EYES module,
funded by a transfer to the revenue
budget from the Capital Fund.
Young Manchester Funding
City
(2019/12/06A)
Treasurer
(Deputy
To finalise the contract value for
Chief
the continuation of funding to
Executive)
Young Manchester
Youth Offer Strategy
(2019/12/11B)

Consultation Background
documents
Checkpoint 4
Business Case

Not before
4th Jan
2020

Manchester
Youth Offer
Strategy

13 Jan 2020

Manchester
Youth Offer
Strategy

Officer Contact
Amanda Corcoran, Director of
Education
a.corcoran@manchester.gov.uk

Lisa Harvey Nebil lisa.harveynebil@manchester.gov.uk

Item 8

To agree a Youth Offer Strategy
for the next 3 years and complete
the production of the strategy
document

Strategic
Director
(Neighbou
rhoods)

Decision
Due Date
Not before
30th Sep
2020

Subject / Decision

Decision
Maker

Decision
Due Date

Future model of care for
Lyndene Children's Home
(2020/07/24C)

Strategic
Director Children
and
Education
Services

Not before
22nd Aug
2020

Report and
Recommendation

Sarah Austin
sarah.austin@manchester.gov.
uk

Strategic
Director Children
and
Education
Services

Not before
22nd Aug
2020

Report and
Recommendation

Sarah Austin
sarah.austin@manchester.gov.
uk

Executive

9 Dec 2020

D2 COVID Winter Amanda Corcoran, Director of
Grants for food
Education
provision to
a.corcoran@manchester.gov.uk
Children

To agree a new model of
residential, short breaks and edge
of care support care at Lyndene
Children’s home.

Page 58

Contract for the Provision of
Children's Residential Care
Services in Manchester
(2020/07/24D)
The appointment of a Care
Provider to deliver Children’s
Residential Care Services in
Manchester following a tender
exercise.
COVID winter grant to support
food provision for children and
young people over the
Christmas holidays and
February half term holiday.

Officer Contact

Item 8

Manchester has been allocated
£2.581m as a COVID winter grant.
A minimum of 80% of this grant
must be spent on families with
children. The grant covers the

Consultation Background
documents

Subject / Decision

Decision
Maker

Decision
Due Date

Consultation Background
documents

Officer Contact

Strategic
Director Children
and
Education
Services

Not before
1st Apr
2021

Report and
Recommendation

Mike Worsley
mike.worsley@manchester.gov.
uk

Strategic
Director Children
and
Education
Services

Not before
1st Apr
2021

Report &
Recommendation

Sarah Austin
sarah.austin@manchester.gov.u
k

Strategic
Director Children
and
Education

Not before
7th May
2021

Report &
Recommendation

Paul Marshall, Strategic Director
- Children and Education
Services
paul.marshall@manchester.gov.
uk

period from 1st December to 31st
March 2021.
The decision is to agree to support
food provision for c43,000 children
and young people over the
Christmas holidays and February
half term holiday
Contract for the Provision of an
Education Psychology Service
(2021/02/03A)
Page 59

The appointment of a Provider to
deliver an Education Psychology
Service.
Contract for the Provision of
Edge of Care Service for
Children with a Learning
Disability and/or Autism
(2021/02/25A)
The appointment of Provider to
deliver the Edge of Care Service
for Children with a Learning
Disability and/or Autism.
Contract for the Provision of
Children's Rights Independent
Advocacy and Independent
Visitor Service

Item 8

Subject / Decision
The appointment of Provider to
deliver the service.
(TC870) Dynamic Purchasing
System for the Provision of
Short Break Support Services
for Children, Young People and
Families (2021/05/11B)

Page 60

To establish a Dynamic
Purchasing System of
organisations to provide short
break support services for
Children, Young People and
Families.
The Lodge - Foyer model
accommodation
(2021/05/11E)

To direct award to a Housing
Provider for the delivery of Foyer
Accommodation to meet the needs
of Manchester’s children in care.
Q20347 Consultant for EYES
data Migration. 2019/04/25A

Decision
Due Date

Strategic
Director Children
and
Education
Services

Not before
11th Jun
2021

Strategic
Director Children
and
Education
Services

11 Jun 2021

City
Treasurer
(Deputy
Chief
Executive)

Not before
1st Jun
2019

Consultation Background
documents

Officer Contact

Report &
Recommendation

Mike Worsley
mike.worsley@manchester.gov.
uk

Report &
Recommendation

Sarah Austin
sarah.austin@manchester.gov.u
k

Report and
Recommendation

Jon Nickson
j.nickson@manchester.gov.uk

Item 8

Contract is to support Manchester
City Council with the migration of
their Education Management

Decision
Maker
Services

Subject / Decision

Decision
Maker

Decision
Due Date

Consultation Background
documents

Officer Contact

System away from Capita One
towards the Liquidlogic EYES
solution.

Page 61
Item 8

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee
Work Programme – May 2021

Page 62

Wednesday 26 May 2021, 2.00 pm (Report deadline Friday 14 May 2021)
Item
Purpose
Executive
Member
Manchester
To receive a report on the work of the
Councillor
Safeguarding
Manchester Safeguarding Partnership. Bridges
Partnership
COVID-19 Update
To receive an update on any new
Councillor
developments or significant changes
Bridges
to the current situation.
Children and
To receive an oral report on the
Councillor
Education Services upcoming issues and challenges within Bridges
Overview and key
the Committee’s remit.
Councillor
issues
Rahman
Overview Report
The monthly report includes the
recommendations monitor, relevant
key decisions, the Committee’s work
programme and any items for
information.
Scrutiny Committees’
To receive an overview of how crosscutting themes in the Our Manchester
work on cross-cutting
Strategy – Forward to 2025 reset
themes of the Our
Manchester Strategy
document are covered by MCC
Scrutiny Committees during the
2021/22 municipal year.
Annual Work
The meeting will close for the annual
Programming Session work programming session where
Members determine the work
programme for the forthcoming year.

Strategic Director /
Lead Officer
Paul Marshall

Comments

Paul Marshall/Amanda
Corcoran
Paul Marshall/
Amanda
Corcoran/Sean
McKendrick
Rachel McKeon

Carol Culley

Public Excluded

Rachel McKeon

Item 8

Items To Be Scheduled
Item
Purpose
Remote Learning

Page 63

Children and Young
People's Plan 2020 2024
Provision of Services
by One Education
Lyndene

Executive
Member
To receive a report on remote learning, Councillor
to include a particular focus on Years
Bridges
11 and 13 and information on the
numbers of pupils who are able to
access any streamed lessons or online
learning that is being made available.
To receive an annual report on the
Councillor
progress of this work.
Bridges

Strategic Director/
Lead Officer
Amanda Corcoran

Comments

Paul Marshall

See November 2020
minutes

To receive a report on the provision of
services by One Education.
To receive a further report on Lyndene
in 12 months’ time.

Amanda Corcoran

See March 2021 minutes

Paul Marshall

See March 2021 minutes

Councillor
Bridges
Councillor
Bridges

See November 2020
minutes

Item 8

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 65

This page is intentionally left blank

